ORIGINAL

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

MCCAW COMMUNICATIONS OF FLORIDA, INC.

Appellant,

v.

SUSAN F. CLARK, etc. et al.,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 86,866

FILED SID J. WHITE JAN 22 1996

OURT CLSR C)et/

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT McCAW COMMUNICATIONS OF FLORIDA, INC.

> Floyd R. Self, Florida Bar No. 608025 Norman H. Horton, Jr., Florida Bar No. 156386 Messer, Caparello, Madsen, Goldman & Metz, P.A. Suite 701, First Florida Bank Building P.O. Box 1876 Tallahassee, FL 32302-1876 Telephone: 904-222-0720

Attorneys for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

The Order on appeal, Order No. PSC-95-1247-FOF-TL (issued October 11, 1995), is a final order of the Florida Public Service Commission that eliminated the longstanding and successful formula that determined the usage charges paid by mobile telecommunications service providers such as McCaw to the local exchange companies. The Commission's decision to break the formula's link to changes in interexchange carrier access charges should be reversed because it was made (i) without competent substantial evidence of record, (ii) in violation of the doctrine of administrative finality, and (iii) in an arbitrary and capricious manner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Procedural Statement

McCaw Communications of Florida, Inc., on behalf of itself and its Florida regional affiliates, appeals Order No. PSC-95-1247-FOF-TL (issued October 11, 1995), a final order of the Florida Public Service Commission ("Commission"), pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(2) of the Florida Constitution, section 364.338, Florida Statutes, and Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(ii) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.¹ To avoid confusion with the other orders discussed herein, the order being appealed shall be referred to as the "1995 Order." To put the 1995 Order in its proper context, first it is necessary to examine the Commission's two prior proceedings relating to the rates at issue in this appeal.

B. Interconnection History: The Original Interconnection Decision -- the 1988 Order

For the last eight years, Appellant McCaw has provided cellular telephone service in Florida pursuant to an interconnection usage rate formula first approved by the Commission in 1988. A. 50-81 (Order No. 20475, issued December 20, 1988, hereinafter referred to as the "1988 Order"). While McCaw builds and operates its own wireless networks that enable cellular telephones to make and receive calls, McCaw's cellular networks must be interconnected with the existing landline or local exchange networks so a caller on one network can reach anyone on the other network. These local landline networks are the historic bottleneck monopolies operated by the "local exchange companies" or "LECs" (e.g., Centel, GTE Florida, Southern Bell, and United Telephone).

¹"R.____" refers to pages of the Record. Appellant's Appendix "A.___" contains the 1995 Order and the other two relevant orders discussed herein.

Cellular telephone service, also referred to as commercial mobile radio service, is a part of the larger wireless services market that includes paging providers. In the 1995 Order, cellular and paging providers are referred to as "mobile service providers" ("MSPs") or "mobile carriers."

When the Commission first set mobile service provider interconnection rates in the 1988 Order, the Commission determined that for cellular-to-landline calls, the cellular carrier must pay the LEC a usage charge derived from a formula that was linked to the intrastate access charges paid by the interexchange carriers (long distance companies such as AT&T and MCI).² Since there are different ways of engineering interconnection, these minutes of use charges are sometimes referred to by their technical designations, e.g., Type 1, Type 2A, or Type 2B, although the Commission set the rate for each type of interconnection to be the same.³ Although sought by the mobile carriers, there was no corresponding requirement that the LECs pay reciprocal usage charges for the termination of landline-to-mobile calls. In addition, the 1988 Order established an optional land-tomobile usage rate payable by the mobile carriers to the LECs that was also derived from a formula linked to access charges. This "land-to-mobile option" rate enables mobile carriers to pay a separate

²Access charges are the compensation paid by the long distance carriers to the LECs for the origination and termination of long distance calls, since the long distance carriers do not run wires to every house and business. <u>Intrastate</u> access charges relate to calls originating and terminating within Florida and have historically been set by the Florida Public Service Commission. <u>Interstate</u> access charges, on the other hand, relate to calls that originate in one state and terminate in a different state and are set by the Federal Communications Commission. Contrary to what one might expect, Florida intrastate access charges are higher than interstate access charges.

³The engineering differences are diagramed at A. 7-9 (1995 Order, at 7-9). Subsequent to the 1988 Order, Type 2A-CCS7, Type 2D, Type 2D-CCS7, and Type 2T interconnection were added.

rate so landline callers may make certain calls to cellular telephones or beepers at no charge; without this option such calls would otherwise require the landline callers to pay long distance charges.

The cornerstone of the Commission's rate determination was the requirement that the interconnection usage charges were to be automatically adjusted each and every time there was a change in access charges. In the 1988 Order the Commission identified several reasons for linking mobile interconnection charges to access charges: (i) to ensure LEC cost recovery, (ii) to prevent discrimination and arbitrage in rates, (iii) to maintain rate consistency, and (iv) to simplify billing. A. 60-70 (1988 Order, at 10-20). In establishing this link, the Commission knew that access charges, and therefore mobile interconnection usage charges, were and, for the foreseeable future, would remain substantially above cost. Indeed, during this same period the Commission was implementing various policies based upon the recognition that access charges needed to decrease over time and move toward cost due to emerging competitive pressures. <u>See, e.g.</u>, Order No. 17053 (Jan. 2, 1987); Order No. 18598 (Dec. 24, 1987); Order No. 19677 (July 15, 1988).

Several parties sought reconsideration or clarification of the 1988 Order, but the usage rate formula was not challenged on reconsideration. No party appealed the 1988 Order.

Consistent with the requirements of the 1988 Order, the LECs filed and the Commission approved the required implementation tariffs. Using the individual access charges applicable to each LEC, these implementation tariffs reflected each LEC's calculation of the mobile interconnection usage charges derived from the formula. In addition, each tariff also either set forth the formula or cross-referenced the 1988 Order and its requirement that changes would be made in the usage prices as was required by the formula. Following the 1988 Order, each and every access charge change made by a LEC was flowed through to the mobile interconnection usage rates as required by the 1988 Order. Sec. e.g., Order No. 21520 (July 7, 1989); Order No. 23628 (Oct. 16, 1990); Order No. 24049 (Jan. 31, 1991); Order No. 24178 (Jan. 31, 1991); Order No. 24942 (Aug. 20, 1991); Order No. 25582 (Jan. 8, 1992); Order No. PSC-92-0199-FOF-TL (Apr. 14, 1992); Order No. PSC-92-0383-FOF-TL (May 20, 1992); Order No. PSC-92-0401-FOF-TL (May 26, 1992); Order No. PSC-92-0708-FOF-TL (July 24, 1992); Order No. PSC-93-0108-FOF-TL (Jan. 21, 1993); Order No. PSC-93-1338-FOF-TL (Sept. 14, 1993); Order No. PSC-94-0095-FOF-TL (Jan. 27, 1994); Order No. PSC-94-0271-FOF-TL (Mar. 9, 1994); Order No. PSC-94-0289-FOF-TL (Mar. 14, 1994); Order No. PSC-94-0730-FOF-TL (June 14, 1994); and Order No. PSC-95-0073-FOF-TL (Jan. 12, 1995). Notwithstanding the flow through in access charge reductions to the mobile interconnection rates, both access charges and the mobile usage charges remain substantially above cost today. A. 15 (1995 Order, at 15).

C. Interconnection History: Southern Bell Petition Rejected -- the 1994 Order

On September 13, 1993, Southern Bell filed a petition with the Commission to break the link between access charges and the mobile interconnection usage rates. After hearing the comments of the parties, the Commission rejected Southern Bell's petition. In its final order, referred to hereinafter as the "1994 Order," the Commission reviewed each of Southern Bell's arguments for breaking the linkage with access charges and found that its petition was not supported. A. 47 (1994 Order, at 5). Critically, the Commission found no merit in Southern Bell's argument that mobile interconnection usage rates can be affected differently depending upon how the LEC determines it shall reduce individual access charge rate elements rather than any unique use of the LEC network by the mobile carriers.⁴ The 1994 Order stated:

We agree, however, the formula has worked this way since its adoption; this is not something new or different. It was recognized in Order 20475 [the 1988 Order] that "(T)he usage rates were determined by using an access charge component that varied from LEC to LEC and fluctuated as LEC switched access charges changed." In its instant filing, SBT [Southern Bell] has not shown that this variation has become problematic. Indeed, the formula merely appears to be working as originally intended.

A. 44 (emphasis added) (1994 Order, at 2). The Commission concluded by stating that while changes in the industry have the "potential to impact the . . . formula," "[t]he formula is still useful for many of the reasons it was implemented." A. 47 (1994 Order, at 5). No party sought reconsideration or appealed the 1994 Order.

<u>D. Interconnection History: The Order on Appeal -- the 1995 Order</u>

Given the presence of only one LEC in the case leading to the 1994 Order and the fact that mobile interconnection had not been reviewed in six years, the Commission decided to initiate an industry-wide investigation "to determine whether the formula for mobile service provider usage charges is still appropriate, or whether it should be abandoned, or replaced with a revised formula." A. 47 (1994 Order, at 5). The parties actively participating in these industry-wide proceedings included McCaw, which was granted party status by Order No. PSC-94-0532-PCO-FOF-TL, as well as other cellular providers, Office of the Public Counsel, the paging carriers' association, the pay telephone association, and the four large LECs (Centel, GTE Florida, Southern Bell, and United Telephone). R. 2-34, 43, 53-58.

⁴Access charges are the sum of several rate elements (such as local switching, local transport, and carrier common line) that relate to various subparts of the telephone network.

During the proceedings below, only two of the 13 LECs, Southern Bell and GTE Florida, advocated breaking the link with access charges. Extensive discovery was undertaken by the parties on this and other issues, the Commission conducted a two-day evidentiary hearing on March 27 and 28, 1995, and on April 28, 1995 the parties submitted post-hearing briefs on the issues. R. Hearing Tr., Vol. 1-4; R. 546-771 (post-hearing briefs). The Commission Staff filed its recommendation on the issues on July 6, 1995. R. 772-837. But the Commission Staff also filed a second recommendation that same day proposing that the Commission order the parties to file legal briefs on the Commission's authority to conclude the docket in view of the recent 1995 amendments to Chapter 364. R. 838-840; Ch. 95-403, 1995 Fla. Law 3311. At its regularly scheduled Agenda Conference on July 18, 1995, the Commission heard from its Staff and the parties on the proposal to have the parties brief these legal issues. The Commission adopted this recommendation and held in abeyance any ruling on the substantive issues until after the legal briefs were filed. R. 841 (Order No. PSC-95-0916-FOF-TL, July 28, 1995, order requiring legal briefs).

The legal briefs were filed on August 15, 1995, with reply legal briefs filed on August 24, 1995. R. 849-942 (initial legal briefs); R. 943-983 (reply legal briefs). On September 1, 1995 the Staff submitted a recommendation on the briefed legal issues that proposed that the savings clause of Chapter 95-403 enabled the Commission to conclude the docket on the basis of the former law. R. 984-995. At the Agenda Conference on September 12, 1995, after little discussion, the Commission adopted the Staff's recommendation on the legal issues and then approved the July 6th recommendation on the substantive issues. The Commission's decisions are contained within Order No. PSC-95-1247-FOF-TL, the 1995 Order which is the subject of this appeal. A. 1-42 and R. 996-1037.

The 1995 Order makes numerous changes in the policies and rates established by the 1988 Order. Of relevance for this appeal, the Commission broke the link between access charges and the mobile interconnection usage rates for the land-to-mobile option and for the mobile-to-land forms of interconnection designated as Type 1, Type 2A, Type 2A-CCS7, Type 2D, and Type 2D-CCS7 (hereinafter, these specific "Types" of mobile-to-land interconnection, which are the only mobile-toland rates at issue in this appeal, shall be referred to as "the mobile-to-land rates on appeal"). In breaking the link with access charges, the Commission froze the usage rates for these forms of interconnection at their then effective price levels and ordered the LECs to not flow through any further access charge reductions. The consequences of this decision for the mobile carriers are especially severe in light of the revisions to Chapter 364, by which the Legislature has mandated access charge reductions while eliminating the Commission's jurisdiction to set mobile service provider interconnection rates, thus leaving the pricing of this monopoly service subject only to the goodwill of the LECs. A. 10 (1995 Order, at 10); §§ 364.051, 364.161, Fla. Stat. (1995). McCaw is not appealing any of the other rate changes or policies set forth in the 1995 Order.⁵ No party sought reconsideration of the 1995 Order. On November 13, 1995, McCaw timely filed its notice of appeal. R. 1038.

⁵For example, the Commission also broke the link with access charges for Type 2B and set the rate for this service in an entirely different way. A. 19 (1995 Order, at 19). All of the parties agreed that the Type 2B interconnection usage rate should be set differently, disagreeing only as to the price. Due to the substantial evidentiary basis in the record for the decision on Type 2B rates, that decision is <u>not</u> being appealed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's Administrative Procedure Act requires that all agency orders be supported by competent substantial evidence in the record. In support of the 1995 Order, all the Public Service Commission could muster as "evidence" was a hodgepodge of conclusory statements and suppositions. The 1995 Order not only lacks evidence which could possibly rise to the level of competent and substantial, the "evidence" it did rely upon makes the 1995 Order internally inconsistent. This Court has consistently held the Commission to the statutory standard and set aside orders which were not supported by competent substantial evidence. Since the Commission acted without credible evidence, much less competent substantial evidence, in deciding to break the link with access charges, it acted improperly. Further, there is absolutely no evidentiary basis for breaking the link for the toll component of the mobile-to-land rates on appeal or for the land-to-mobile option. Accordingly, the 1995 Order must be set aside.

Assuming *arguendo* that the Commission could have produced competent substantial evidence to support breaking the link, application of the doctrine of administrative finality would prevent the Commission from modifying the 1988 Order. The doctrine of administrative finality requires that, at some point, an agency's action must pass from its control. Thereafter, the established policy cannot be changed without first demonstrating changed facts and circumstances. Not only did the Commission fail to produce competent substantial evidence to support its new approach to mobile interconnection pricing, it further failed to demonstrate the necessary changed facts and circumstances that were required to modify the 1988 Order that had certainly passed from its control. Without such changed facts and circumstances supported by the record, the Commission was barred from adopting a new policy. Thus, even assuming the Commission had produced

competent substantial evidence to support an alternative approach, the doctrine of administrative finality requires that the 1995 Order be set aside because the Commission failed to establish <u>changed</u> facts and circumstances that would justify abandoning existing policy.

Further assuming, *arguendo*, that the Commission had sufficiently demonstrated changed facts and circumstances, and then produced competent substantial evidence to support breaking the link with access charges, the 1995 Order would still be an improper arbitrary and capricious abuse of discretion. The Commission arbitrarily and capriciously favored the LECs when it broke the link with access charges by leaving the mobile carriers to deal with admitted monopolies that, without the link, have no impetus to negotiate rates. Without any evidence that breaking the link would promote negotiations, let alone that such rate negotiations were an appropriate regulatory goal, the Commission nevertheless broke the link in the hope that meaningful negotiations would occur. For the Commission, without any rational basis, to leave the mobile carriers subject to pricing unrestrained by competition, at the same time that the Commission's authority to regulate prices has been severely reduced, is exactly the type of arbitrary and capricious action that contravenes well established legal requirements (not to mention the public interest) and must be set aside.

The Administrative Procedure Act and established case law require that when an agency acts outside its bounds, be it acting without competent substantial evidence, acting arbitrarily and capriciously, or violating the doctrine of administrative finality, that the agency action be set aside. Where further proceedings are necessary, the case is remanded back to the agency. Where further proceedings are not necessary, the agency's previous order, if one exists, is restored. In this case, further proceedings are not needed or required. Each of the parties had a full and fair chance to demonstrate the necessary changed facts and circumstances required to modify the 1988 Order. Parties were also given a full and fair opportunity to produce competent substantial evidence to support breaking the link with access charges. The LECs failed on both accounts. No further opportunity is required nor warranted. Therefore, the appropriate remedy is to set aside the 1995 Order on these limited rate issues and reinstate the 1988 Order.

ARGUMENT

I. There is no competent substantial evidence of record to support breaking the link with access charges for the mobile-to-land rates on appeal and the land-to-mobile option rates, and no evidence at all to support breaking the link for the land-to-mobile or the toll component of the mobile-to-land rates on appeal.

It is well settled that the Commission's decisions must be supported by competent substantial evidence in the record. § 120.68(10), Fla Stat. (1995); MCI Telecommunications Corp. v. Florida Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 491 So. 2d 539, 541 (Fla. 1986); Duval Utility Co. v. Florida Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 380 So. 2d 1028, 1031 (Fla. 1980); Citizens of Florida v. Hawkins, 356 So. 2d 254, 259 (Fla. 1978); City of Plant City. v. Mayo, 337 So. 2d 966, 974 (Fla. 1976). This Court has consistently stated that competent substantial evidence is

such evidence as will establish a substantial basis of fact from which the fact at issue can be reasonably inferred [or] . . . such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept as adequate to support a conclusion.

De Groot v. Sheffield, 95 So. 2d 912, 916 (Fla. 1957); cited with approval in Duval Utility, 380 So.

2d at 1031. In Citizens v. Hawkins, the Court required that this standard must be applied separately

to each finding on which the agency's action depends:

Each determination must be based on specific independent findings supported by competent substantial evidence.

<u>Citizens v. Hawkins</u>, 356 So. 2d at 259 (citations omitted). While the Commission's orders are presumed correct, when the evidence does not meet these evidentiary standards, such orders are to be overturned. <u>United Telephone Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n</u>, 496 So. 2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1986); <u>MCI Telecommunications Corp. v. Florida Pub. Serv. Comm'n</u>, 491 So. 2d 539, 541 (Fla. 1986). The 1995 Order fails such standards and so should be reversed.

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