### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MCCAW COMMUNICATIONS OF FLORIDA, INC.	)
Appellant,	) CASE NO. 86,866
vs.	)
SUSAN F. CLARK, ETC. ET AL.,	)
Appellees.	)
	)

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

DAVID E. SMITH Director of Appeals Florida Bar No. 309011

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0862 (904) 413-6084

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission's 1995 Order breaking the link between access charges and mobile interconnection rates is supported by competent substantial evidence and does not depart from the essential requirements of law. The evidence of record showed that the local exchange companies' pricing of switched access charges was being influenced by the automatic pass-through of access charge reductions to mobile interconnection rates. The record also showed that the mobile communications industry was undergoing significant changes which supported moving away from the formula adopted in the Commission's 1988 Order. The Commission correctly weighed the competing testimony before it and did not abuse its discretion in deciding that, henceforth, mobile interconnection rates would not be linked to access charges.

The Commission likewise had before it ample competent substantial evidence to conclude that mobile interconnection rates should fundamentally be a matter of negotiations between the local exchange companies and the mobile carriers. The Commission's decision to allow parties sixty days to negotiate interconnection rates as an alternative to freezing rates at current levels was a reasonable solution based on the historical role of negotiations in developing interconnection rates. It was also consistent with the generally expressed desire of the parties to negotiate.

The Commission's decision was a policy-oriented re-evaluation of the relationships between local exchange companies and mobile carriers, appropriate rate methodologies and rate levels. The

doctrine of administrative finality is fundamentally inapplicable to such a decision where the Commission is exercising its on-going regulatory responsibility in the public interest. Even if the doctrine of administrative finality were applicable, the Commission had before it sufficient evidence to modify its earlier decisions on a going-forward basis.

The Commission's decision was the result of a reasoned analysis consistent with the evidence presented and its statutory authority. In no way does the Commission's 1995 Order represent an abuse of discretion, nor is it flawed by arbitrary and internally inconsistent conclusions. McCaw's complaints about the 1995 Order ask the Court to adopt its view of the evidence and do nothing to show that the Commission's order is insufficient as a matter of law.

McCaw is incorrect in its assertions that the proper appellate remedy, should it be successful, is to completely set aside the Commission's 1995 Order and reinstate the 1988 Order. Under Section 120.68(10), Florida Statutes, and this Court's decisions, it would be inappropriate for this Court to set aside the Commission's order without the opportunity for further proceedings. To do so would thrust the Court into the Commission's role of setting mobile interconnection rates. That is a role this Court has never assumed, and should not, even if McCaw were convincing in its arguments that the Commission's order is deficient.

McCaw has not overcome the presumption of correctness which attaches to Commission's orders. The 1995 Order should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION'S 1995 ORDER BREAKING THE LINK WITH ACCESS CHARGES FOR MOBILE INTERCONNECTION RATES IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND COMPORTS WITH THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW.

The Commission agrees with McCaw that the applicable standard of review in this case is whether the Commission's order is supported by competent substantial evidence. This Court has also stated that it will look at the Commission's order to determine if there has been a departure from the essential requirements of law. Those standards are concisely stated in <a href="Citizens of the State of Florida v. Florida Public Service Commission">Citizens of the State of Florida v. Florida Public Service Commission</a>, 464 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 1985) where the Court stated:

As we have repeatedly stated, we will not reweigh or re-evaluate the evidence presented to the commission, but will examine the record only to determine whether the order complained of meets the essential requirements of law and whether the agency had available to it competent substantial evidence to support its findings. (Citations omitted).

Contrary to McCaw's claims, the Commission's order is neither insufficient for lack of competent substantial evidence, nor does the order depart from the essential requirements of law.

As the Commission noted in its 1995 Order, the mobile carriers and the local exchange companies were split on the issue of whether interconnection rates should remain tied to access charges. Mobile carriers generally favored maintaining the link to access charges, because they would automatically benefit from future reductions. The local exchange companies, on the other hand, believed that the link should be broken, since declining access charges would

continue to result in lower interconnection rates. This would in turn influence their pricing decisions on switched access charges.

A. 14 (1995 Order at 14).

The Commission had before it competing testimony on breaking the link between interconnection rates and access charges. Southern Bell's witness Sims and GTEFL witness Bailey favored breaking the link. Ms. Sims testified that the formula adopted in the Commission's 1988 Order should be abandoned "because of significant changes that have taken place". TR. 429. Ms. Sims elaborated on the nature of these changes and their effect as follows:

current formula assumes intrastate switched access rate structure will remain constant. This has not been the case. For example, the line termination and local switching access rate elements have been combined into the local switching element. At. time the formula was the developed, they were separate rate elements they were used differently. LEC individual must now decide accommodate this change in the access rate structure to continue to use the formula. Consideration must also be given to the effect changes resulting from the company's switched access local transport restructure filing which is pending approval by the Commission. In addition, given the rapidly changing telecommunications environment that today, there could be even more exists intrastate switched access rate structure changes in the future.

Furthermore, the current formula does not take into consideration the recovery of a LEC's expenses involved with the termination of intralata toll calling under the depooling arrangement. The formula arbitrarily assigns traffic sensitive access rate elements as a basis for local interconnection. Therefore, with continuing access reductions and taking

into account the payment of terminating access on intercompany intralata calls, the total rate for lata-wide mobile to land interconnection will be reduced to a level below the level needed to cover the company's expenses to provide interconnection on a latawide basis. TR. 429-430.

Ms. Sims further testified that Southern Bell had favored negotiated rates based on breaking the link with access charges as advocated in Southern Bell's 1993 Petition to the Commission. TR. 485-486. Ms. Sims stated that Southern Bell's desire to pursue negotiated interconnection rates had also been frustrated by future access charge reductions required by the settlement of its 1994 rate case. She stated:

So, negotiations, basically went out the window because we were locked into the formula and we had the rate case settlement. The rate case settlement allowed for further access reductions which, of course, translated into further reductions for the mobile carriers. So there was no incentive for them to enter into further negotiations. TR. 487.

Ms. Sims stated that, while the formula may have been appropriate in 1988, it had over time produced a distortion in pricing of local switched access charges. She explained:

And I think that over time because of the access reductions and the fact that the formula is driven by whatever reduction you make in whichever rate element -- if you make a reduction in your local switching element, it flows through 100% in the formula. If you make a reduction in your carrier common line, it flows through 20% of the formula. So you are victim of where you are adjusting your rates as far as what happens with mobile service provider rates and charges. And I just think you should divorce that. TR. 490.

GTEFL's witness Mr. Bailey also testified that the time had come to break the link between interconnection rates and access charges. He stated:

If the Florida PSC does not rule favorably on [GTEFL's] detariffing proposal, then at a minimum, the link between switched access and mobile access rates should be broken. LECs should be allowed to submit long run incremental costs (LRIC) to be used to establish price floors for mobile interconnection service. Then the LECs should be allowed to set their mobile access rates independent of their switched access rates. Additionally, if detariffing of mobile access services is not allowed, then a streamlined process for offering competitive services needs to be developed and implemented to compensate for the rapidly changing wireless environment. TR. 275.

When asked to explain why the link with access charges should be broken, Mr. Bailey stated:

Wireless access is a different product from switched access. For example, wireless usage is mainly intraLATA, while IC switched access is predominately interLATA. Wireless service, especially with the advent of personal communication services (PCS), is a substitute for local service, while IC switched access is a supplement to local service. Additionally, the wireless market is extremely dynamic with technologies rapidly emerging flexibility in interconnection arrangements being constantly demanded. The introduction of PCS will only accelerate the speed with which these changes occur. Due to these market differences, the LECs should be granted the ability to set wireless access rates independent of switched access accommodate the demands of their mobile carrier customers. TR. 275-276.

Mr. Bailey went on to explain that, if GTEFL's proposal to detariff mobile interconnection rates were not granted, then the

Commission should at least break the link with access charges for two reasons. He stated:

. . . First of all, it is not really required to ensure that the mobile service providers receive fair and equitable interconnection rates and arrangements from GTE Florida because we provide this service to many MSPs in other states without any linkage to access. And, secondly, with local competition coming in the near future, the LECs could be at a disadvantage to the alternative LECs if there is not some degree of regulatory parity between the two. TR. 281.

Like Ms. Sims, Mr. Bailey also expressed his belief that the formula linking access charges with mobile interconnection rates did not provide mobile carriers with any real incentive to negotiate with the local exchange companies. TR. 329.

The positions of Southern Bell and GTEFL were strongly opposed by McCaw's witness, Mr. Maass. Although Mr. Maass generally favored negotiated interconnection rates, he objected negotiations coupled with breaking the link with access charges. TR. 522-523. Mr. Maass specifically disagreed with GTEFL and Southern Bell that the linkage should be broken based on changing interconnection needs related to personal communication services. He also found Southern Bell's reference to problems arising from local exchange company depooling for intraLATA toll calls to be unconvincing. On this issue, he noted that Southern Bell already had in place a mechanism to make up for any losses which might result from its handling of mobile traffic. TR. 525-526. Maass further disagreed with Southern Bell's theory that the link should be broken because "the interconnection rate formula no

longer exactly correlates to access charge rate elements". TR. 526. He stated that Southern Bell had been able to successfully avoid the alleged problem by flowing through reductions in a now-combined access charge element on an unbundled basis. TR. 526. In summary, Mr. Maass stated:

To agree with the LECs would, in essence, mean a repudiation of the Commission's previous investigation of mobile/LEC interconnection. Such a radical change in the LEC/mobile carrier relationship requires that the LECs present compelling evidence in support of their position. Simply put, the LECs have presented no such evidence. TR. 527.

The witness for the Florida Mobile Communication Association, Inc., Mr. Cabrera, also advocated retaining the link between interconnection rates and access charges. In essence, Mr. Cabrera testified, consistent with Mr. Maass' position, that the access charge formula had worked well and should not be abandoned, at least not entirely. TR. 161-162. He concluded that "the existing mobile carrier usage rate methodology should be retained, modified, if necessary, but not entirely rejected". TR. 162.

Both the testimony at hearing and the Commission's 1995 Order embraced broader issues than the narrow focus presented in McCaw's Brief. It may be true as McCaw claims, that only Ms. Sims specifically testified about the influence of the access charge linkage on the company's decisions to reduce Local Switching and Local Transport access charge rate elements. However, that is no basis for this Court to conclude that her testimony did not constitute competent substantial evidence. There was no rebuttal showing that Southern Bell had not been influenced in its access

charge pricing decisions in the way that Ms. Sims described. Nor is there any reason to reject the Commission's observation that "that the LECs have become somewhat unwilling to reduce the Local Switching and Local Transport rate elements to the degree they otherwise would have because of the impact of the flow-through requirement". A. 14-15 (1995 Order at 14-15). Even if only Ms. Sims specifically addressed this point, the Commission was not compelled to ignore its own regulatory experience or abandon common sense. Gulf Power Company v. Florida Public Service Commission, 446 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1984). The Commission could reasonably conclude that not only Southern Bell's pricing of switched access charges was being influenced by the pass-through of reductions to mobile interconnection rates, but other carriers' decisions as well.

Moreover, McCaw does not even attempt to rebutt, as it could not, the Commission's findings that switched access charge prices will continue their downward trend. A. 15 (1995 Order at 15). Nor could it dispute that "cellular and paging usage has grown substantially since the last mobile interconnection case, and with it, the revenue impact on LECs of the flow-through requirement". Id.

Contrary to McCaw's claim, the Commission did not have to "twist" the evidence before it to find that conditions in 1995 justified abandonment of the interconnection rate formula adopted 1988. (Brief at 15). The testimony of record constitutes ample competent substantial evidence to support the Commission's

findings. Moreover, it is no criticism of the Commission's decision that it chose to take this action before "any major market distortions" had occurred. Apparently, McCaw would have the Commission allow mobile carriers to go on enjoying the benefits of automatic rate reductions until such time as major difficulties in the market occurred. There is no basis in the record, nor any ratemaking principle which would confine the Commission to such a do-nothing, wait-and-see position. As this Court has stated many times, it is the Commission's prerogative to set rates and to choose the methodology which it believes will produce appropriate results under the circumstances. Florida Retail Federation v. Mayo, 331 So. 2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1976); International Minerals and Chemical Corporation, 336 So. 2d 548, 551 (Fla. 1976).

McCaw further attempts to steer the Court away from the focus of the Commission's decision by a series of quibbling arguments. It thus claims the Commission's order is internally "inconsistent" based on the Commission's statement that "the evidence does not support the wholesale abandonment of the status quo". A. 11 (1995 Order at 11). It is apparent that the Commission didn't totally abandon the status quo, since it proposed to freeze interconnection rates at the current levels, with the exception of the type 2B rate. Thus, the mobile carriers were not immediately forced to rely on negotiated rates but were merely provided that option. Indeed, under the status quo, the option for negotiated rates had always existed. TR. 307; A. 13 (1995 Order at 13). Even if the

Commission's order were "internally inconsistent" that would hardly provide a basis for this Court to overturn it.

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